ORIGINAL

Received
Washington State Supreme Court

APR 0 9 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT Ronald R. Carpenter OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON Clerk

NO. 91551-2

(Court of Appeals No. 31887-7-III)

ENVISION SPOKANE,

Appellant,

v.

SPOKANE ENTREPRENEURIAL CENTER, SPOKANE COUNTY, DOWNTOWN SPOKANE PARTNERSHIP, GREATER SPOKANE INCORPORATED, THE SPOKANE BUILDING OWNERS AND MANAGERS ASSOCIATION, SPOKANE ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS, THE SPOKANE HOME BUILDERS ASSOCIATION, THE INLAND PACIFIC CHAPTER OF ASSOCIATED BUILDERS AND CONTRACTORS, AVISTA CORPORATION, PEARSON PACKAGING SYSTEMS, WILLIAM BUTLER, NEIL MULLER, STEVE SALVATORI, NANCY MCLAUGHLIN, MICHAEL ALLEN, AND TOM POWER.

Respondent.

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners seeking discretionary review, under RAP 13.4(a), of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Spokane Entrepreneurial Center v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution*, No. 31887-7-III, 2015 WL 410344 (Jan. 29, 2015) (unpublished) ("Opinion"), ¹ are a coalition of Spokane voters, elected officials, non-profit corporations, local businesses, and Spokane County. ² Together, these Petitioners brought a pre-election challenge to a local initiative. The Superior Court found Petitioners had standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA") to pursue their pre-election challenge, and invalidated the initiative because it exceeds the scope of the local initiative power. The Court of Appeals reversed on standing grounds, without reaching the merits of the initiative sponsors' appeal. This Court should accept discretionary review of the Opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) for the following reasons:³

entered declaratory judgment.

¹ Petitioners attach as Appendix A to this Petition a true and correct copy of the Opinion in this matter along with the Court of Appeals' Order Denying Motion to Publish (filed March 3, 2015) and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration (filed March 10, 2015). RAP 13.4(c)(9).

² The case caption contains a complete list of Petitioners. Petitioners base this Petition on the facts in the record that existed at the time the trial court

³ RAP 13.4(b)(3) applies when a Court of Appeals decision raises significant questions of Washington or federal constitutional law. Although that rule does not apply to the Opinion here, the underlying merits of the case involve substantial issues of First Amendment law, as well as other Constitutional rights. *See infra* Part V.C; App. C.

First, the heightened test for standing under the UDJA that the Court of Appeals adopted in the Opinion—requiring Petitioners to show they are "clearly" at the "center of the zone of interest" and suffered immediate harm—conflicts with multiple decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). These decisions include:

Grant County Fire Protection District No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150
Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (defining a two-part test for standing in a declaratory judgment action); Mukilteo Citizens for Simple

Government v. City of Mukilteo, 174 Wn.2d 41, 46, 272 P.3d 227 (2012)
(applying same two-part test to a private party's pre-election challenge to local initiative); and American Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of

Bellingham, 163 Wn. App. 427, 260 P.3d 245 (2011) (same).

Second, the Court's holding that Petitioners could not invoke the public importance exception to standing because the initiative at issue would not apply outside of Spokane and had not yet become law conflicts with multiple decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). These decisions include Washington Natural Gas Co. v. Public Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County, 77 Wn.2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969), and many of its progeny, such as American Traffic, 163 Wn. App. 427, and City of Longview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 783, 301 P.3d 45, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1020, 312 P.3d 650 (2013).

Third, both of these holdings and the underlying initiative involve issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court's revision of the UDJA and public importance standing tests based on the subject of the case and parties before it creates a split within the Court of Appeals. Litigants will face uncertainty as to whether other courts may further deviate from previously settled standing principles. In addition, the underlying initiative would impact the lives and Constitutional rights of hundreds of thousands of people across Washington and Idaho.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' new and heightened test for standing under the UDJA conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)?
- 2. Does the Court's significant narrowing of the public importance exception to Washington's settled standing doctrine conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, warranting discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)?
- 3. Does the Court's Opinion involve issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), given the Court adopted a new and heightened test for standing under the UDJA and narrowed the public importance exception to standing?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioners in this case filed a pre-election suit seeking a declaratory judgment that a proposed initiative exceeded the scope of the local initiative power. The Spokane County Superior Court held: (1) Petitioners had standing under the UDJA because the suit contained a justiciable controversy and Petitioners were "within the zone of interests the initiative seeks to regulate and have demonstrated sufficient injury"; and (2) the initiative exceeded the local initiative power because its provisions would infringe on the city's administrative powers, interfere with federal or state laws, and/or modify or remove constitutional rights and obligations. App. B at 6-8, 14.4

The initiative sponsor, Envision Spokane, appealed. Although Envision conceded on appeal that Petitioners had standing under the UDJA, the Court of Appeals, *sua sponte*, held Petitioners did not. Op. at 1, 6. The Court concluded: (1) Petitioners were "*not so clearly situated* in the *center* of the zone of interests, nor as certainly to suffer *immediate harm* from the adoption of the initiative" to have standing under the UDJA, Op. at 16-17 (emphasis added); *see also id.* at 11-12 (refusing to

⁴ Petitioners attach as Appendix B to this Petition a true and correct copy of the transcript of the oral decision of the Spokane County Superior Court in this matter and its Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Declaratory Judgment. RAP 13.4(c)(9).

apply this Court's test for standing under the UDJA); and (2) the public importance exception to standing did not apply, *id.* at 15-16.⁵

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Rejected Precedent and Imposed a New and More Burdensome Standing Test Under the UDJA

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals departed from settled law and announced a new and ambiguous standing rule for private parties seeking pre-election declaratory judgments concerning whether a proposed initiative exceeds the scope of the local initiative power. Specifically, the Court stated a private party bringing a pre-election challenge to a local initiative "must establish both that it is in the *center* of the zone of interests affected by the initiative *and* that the certainty of *immediate specific harm* to that party is such that a post-election lawsuit is not a practical remedy for the party." Op. at 17 (first emphasis and bolded emphasis added).⁶

⁵ That the Court of Appeals did not publish its decision does not matter. This Court regularly accepts review of unpublished Court of Appeals opinions. See, e.g., State v. Deskins, 180 Wn.2d 68, 76, 322 P.3d 780 (2014); Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 326, 314 P.3d 380 (2013); State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); Preview Props., Inc. v. Landis, 161 Wn.2d 383, 389, 165 P.3d 1 (2007). Nor does the Court of Appeals' decision not to publish its Opinion diminish the public importance of the standing tests the Court announced, or the substance of the underlying initiative. See Part IV.C, infra.

⁶ The Court stated this test in various, equally burdensome and unsupported ways, rendering the test ambiguous. See Op. at 16-17

The Court correctly quoted this Court's UDJA standing rules, but then declined to apply them because, in its view, "more should be required" from plaintiffs "in the context of a pre-election challenge." *Id.* at 11. In doing so, not only did the Court depart from the traditional declaratory judgment standing analysis, but also it imposed a "heightened" standing requirement in pre-election challenges brought by private parties to local initiatives. *Id.* at 6. These rulings conflict with controlling authority from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

1. The Opinion's New and Heightened Standing Test Conflicts with Decisions of this Court

As the Court of Appeals recognized, this Court has repeatedly used a clear, two-part test to determine when a party may sue for declaratory judgment. First, the party must show that the "interest sought to be protected is 'arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question." *Grant Cnty.*, 150 Wn.2d at 802 (emphasis added) (quoting *Save a Valuable Env't*

⁽holding Petitioners "were not so *clearly* situated in the center of the zone of interests, nor as *certainly* to suffer immediate harm from adoption of the initiative, that they have demonstrated standing to pursue this action") (emphasis added); *id.* at 18-19 ("There needed to be a showing that the respondents would *truly* be affected by the initiative and that the harm from the initiative would require *immediate court intervention*.") (emphasis added). Even if the Court's new test followed Washington law (and it does not), the Court's varying articulations of the test will cause confusion and uncertainty absent Supreme Court review.

v. City of Bothell, 89 Wn.2d 862, 866, 576 P.2d 401 (1978)). Second, the party must show an "injury in fact, economic or otherwise." *Id.*Washington courts have applied this standard to a wide range of cases, none of which support the proposition that the subject matter or party of the case changes the standing test under the UDJA.

In fact, the Court of Appeals appropriately acknowledged that, "[lliberally construed, the fact that both Spokane County and Avista use the Spokane River might 'arguably' put them 'within the zone of interests' of the Environmental Rights provision since it addresses the same river." Op. at 11. Yet it rejected this Court's well-established test and instead, adopted a more burdensome rule because it believed "[t]he initiative must ... more directly relate" to the Petitioners' interest. Id. at 12. The Court of Appeals may not simply replace the long-settled "arguably within the zone of interests" test, see, e.g., Grant Cnty., 150 Wn.2d at 802, with its own heightened standard of "clearly situated in the center of the zone of interests," Op. at 16 (emphasis added). Nor may it revise this Court's "injury in fact" prong, see, e.g., Grant Cnty., 150 Wn.2d at 802, by adding a requirement that the injury be "clear" or "immediate," Op. at 17, 19. Rather, this Court's statements about what the law is constrain the Court of Appeals' opinion about what the law should be.

In addition, the Court used its newly created and heightened

standard for showing "zone of interests" and "injury" to reach a conclusion that conflicts with decisions in which this Court held that private plaintiffs had standing under the UDJA to bring pre-election initiative challenges. In *Grant County*, for instance, plaintiffs challenged the method for annexation of non-incorporated land into existing municipal entities. 150 Wn.2d at 797-98. This Court held plaintiffs had established standing under the UDJA, even though the only "injury in fact" was the possibility that residents of those areas might "face different tax rates following annexation." *Id.* at 803.

Similarly, in *Washington Association for Substance Abuse & Violence Prevention v. State* ("*WASAVP*"), this Court held a private association had standing to bring a post-election challenge to the constitutionality of a statewide initiative permitting private liquor sales in Washington. 174 Wn.2d 642, 653, 278 P.3d 632 (2012). In doing so, this Court again applied the generous standing requirements under the UDJA, reasoning: "WASAVP's goal of preventing substance abuse and violence places it within the zone of interests of I–1183, which broadly impacts the State's regulation of alcohol. . . . [WASAVP's] goals of preventing substance abuse could reasonably be impacted by I–1183's restructuring of Washington's regulation of liquor . . . [and] the increase in liquor availability would injure WASAVP's goals." *Id.* at 653-54.

The interests of the plaintiffs in both *Grant County* and *WASAVP* were more attenuated, and the harm more speculative, than here. The residents in *Grant County* would be harmed only if the municipalities subsequently determined and enforced an increased level of taxation, and in *WASAVP*, even though the law had passed, the association's harm turned on as-yet-unproven assertions that privatized liquor sales would increase the availability of alcohol and the rate of substance abuse. Even though the plaintiffs in both cases had not yet suffered harm at the time of suit, the Court still found plaintiffs had established standing.

Despite these decisions, the Court here held that, "[u]ntil the initiative passes, any harm to the respondents is necessarily speculative, and would be dependent upon someone trying to use the initiative against them." Op. at 13. The Court so concluded even though Petitioners showed the initiative would impair their First Amendment rights, and would subject them to new regulations that would affect their rights and impair their current projects. CP 227-29. The Court's holding contradicts *Grant County* and *WASAVP*, in which this Court permitted declaratory judgment actions seeking to prevent harm from the *future* application of a law. *See, e.g., Grant Cnty.*, 150 Wn.2d at 802-03 ("the property owners satisfy the requirements of actual injury for the 'injury in fact' test because they face different tax rates following annexation"); *WASAVP*, 174 Wn.2d

at 653-54 (private organization had standing because enacted initiative could impact organization's goals).

The Court of Appeals' new and heightened standing test for private parties in pre-election suits also conflicts with at least four decisions in which this Court reached the merits of declaratory judgment actions in pre-election suits filed by private parties. *See Mukilteo Citizens*, 174 Wn.2d 41; *1000 Friends of Wash. v. McFarland*, 159 Wn.2d 165, 170-71, 149 P.3d 616 (2006); *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. City of Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 740, 620 P.2d 82 (1980); *Ford v. Logan*, 79 Wn.2d 147, 483 P.2d 1247 (1971). None of these decisions applied the standing requirements announced in the Opinion, or even suggested that a heightened test would be appropriate in private party pre-election lawsuits.

The Court of Appeals analyzed only one of these decisions in the Opinion, the *Mukilteo Citizens* decision. Op. at 13-14. The Court correctly noted that in *Mukilteo Citizens*, this Court held the plaintiff had associational standing on behalf of its members because the association "consists of Mukilteo residents who are eligible to vote." *Id.* at 14 (quoting *Mukilteo Citizens*, 174 Wn.2d at 46). But the Court of Appeals disregarded this statement because it did "not believe" this Court was "conferring standing to challenge an initiative on any person who could vote on the initiative." Op. at 14.

This Court's statement concerning standing was essential to its holding, however, and therefore is not dicta that a lower court can choose to "believe" or ignore. *See Cent. Green Co. v. United States*, 531 U.S. 425, 431 (2001) (defining dicta as statements "not essential to our disposition of any of the issues contested in" the case). Absent personal standing, associational standing is impossible. *Mukilteo Citizens*, 174 Wn.2d at 46. This Court provided only one reason for its conclusion that the association had standing to pursue a pre-election challenge: the association consisted of eligible voters. *Id.*⁷

The briefing in *Mukilteo Citizens* makes clear that the parties raised standing before this Court. In their reply brief, the private plaintiffs devoted over four pages to showing they met every element of the UDJA's standing test and the public interest exception. *See* Appellant's Reply Brief, *Mukilteo Citizens v. City of Mukilteo*, 2010 WL 6234480, at *5-9 (Wash. Aug. 25, 2010) (arguing the private group met the zone of interests test because it wished to ensure that "its elected representatives . . . do not act unlawfully" and "there is a strong public interest in determining whether the Initiative is outside the scope of the local initiative power").

⁷ The Court of Appeals appears to have implicitly invited this Court to expand on its reasoning in *Mukilteo*, stating "[i]f the court meant more [by its standing analysis than that the association had standing because its members had standing], it will undoubtedly develop its reasoning in terms of individual standing in a future case." Op. at 14.

With the issue squarely before it, this Court held the private association (with lesser interests than Petitioners here, who showed the initiative would subject them to new regulations and requirements that would impair their current businesses and functions, CP 225-26) had standing to challenge a local initiative, pre-election. The Court of Appeals' Opinion casts aside this precedent and imposes a different rule that creates a contrary result.⁸

This Court has also reached the merits of declaratory judgment actions filed by private plaintiffs challenging local initiatives in three other instances. *See Seattle Bldg.*, 94 Wn.2d at 750 (affirming declaratory judgment for private group invalidating initiative as beyond the scope of the local initiative power); *Ford*, 79 Wn.2d at 157 (same regarding a King County initiative). *See also 1000 Friends*, 159 Wn.2d at 170 (same in a

⁸ If this Court had applied the standing test announced in the Opinion, the *Mukilteo Citizens* plaintiffs would have failed the test. The members of the plaintiff group were simply "Mukilteo residents," without any particular connection to the traffic cameras at issue in the case. 174 Wn.2d at 45. Further, their only claimed injury was the possibility that their elected representatives would "act unlawfully, ... in an inefficient manner, ... outside their authority," and through an unlawful delegation of their authority. 2010 WL 6234480, at *5. As such, their injury was generalized and speculative, and far more remote than the harms facing Respondents. *See* CP 227-29 (Envision initiative would impair Petitioners' First Amendment free speech rights, as well as current projects and rights permitted under present regulations that the initiative would amend).

suit a private group and King County jointly prosecuted).

In *Seattle Building*, for example, the City argued the private association plaintiff lacked standing to challenge a proposed local initiative pre-election. It claimed any injury the association's members suffered as taxpayers was not sufficiently burdensome, and plaintiff could not show any particular pre-election injury. App. C at 3.9 In response, the association cited *Ford* and argued the availability of a pre-election injunction "is so well established as to be beyond challenge." *Id.* at 12-13. It also argued the Court should affirm the declaratory judgment for the association, noting the interest in judicial economy. *Id.* at 11-12.

In four cases, this Court has reached the merits of pre-election challenges to local initiatives brought by private parties. When the parties litigated standing, this Court applied the well-settled UDJA test to find the private plaintiffs had standing. The Court of Appeals deviated from this precedent when it imposed a new and heightened standing test for private parties seeking pre-election declaratory judgments.

2. The Opinion Conflicts with Decisions of the Court of Appeals

⁹ Petitioners attach as Appendix C to this Petition a true and correct copy of the relevant portions of the Supreme Court briefing in *Seattle Building*, obtained from the University of Washington School of Law Gallagher Law Library archives. RAP 10.4(c); RAP 13.4(c)(9). The archives did not contain the Supreme Court briefing from *Ford*.

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