RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 08, 2015, 2:46 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91551-2

SPOKANE ENTREPRENEURIAL CENTER, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

SPOKANE MOVES TO AMEND THE CONSTITUTION, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER OF THE CITY OF SPOKANE SUPPORTING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Wash Const. art. VI 8.10	2.6

LOCAL PROVISIONS SMC 02.02 2 SMC 02.02.080 (former) 2 SMC 02.02.100(B) (former) 3 SMC 02.02.115(C) 13 Spokane City Charter, art. IX, § 82(A) 15 Spokane City Charter, art. IX, § 81-82 2 Spokane City Charter, art. XIV, § 125 2 SECONDARY SOURCES 2 103 Official Gazette, City of Spokane, Washington, No. 22, May 29, 2013 4 Philip A. Trautman, Initiative and Referendum in Washington: A Survey, 49 Wash. L. Rev. 55 (1973) 6

I INTRODUCTION

This case involves the City of Spokane's local initiative process, which is critically important to the City and its residents. Unlike the statewide power of initiative, the City's local initiative process derives not from the State constitution, but from statute and the Spokane City Charter. Given this difference in origin, courts necessarily approach justiciability concerns for preelection challenges to local initiatives less rigidly than like challenges to statewide initiatives. The Court of Appeals lost sight of this by applying to Petitioners' challenge the justiciability concerns typically applied to preelection challenges to statewide initiatives. In addition, by concluding that a local initiative seeking to amend Spokane's organic law was not sufficiently important to constitute an issue of public importance, the Court of Appeals took too narrow a view of what constitutes public importance for standing purposes. Respectfully, the City requests that this Court grant the Petition for Discretionary Review.

II RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

While the City agrees with Petitioners' Statement of the Case, it adds the following to assist the Court is assessing the Petition.

A. The City of Spokane and Its Charter-Created Initiative.

The City is a municipal corporation of the first class. Walker v. City of Spokane, 62 Wash. 312, 315, 113 P. 775 (1911). As such, the City

has the constitutional authority to frame its own charter. *Id.* (citing Wash. Const., art. XI, § 10). The City exercised that power and adopted the Spokane City Charter, which has been in effect for over one hundred years. While the City's legislative authority is "vested in a mayor and a city council," Spokane "*may provide* for direct legislation by the people through the initiative . . . upon any matter within the scope of the powers, functions, or duties of the city." RCW 35.22.200 (emphasis added) (attached as <u>Appendix A</u>); *accord Hartig v. City of Seattle*, 53 Wash. 432, 435, 102 P.2d 408 (1909). Spokane has exercised that discretionary right, and its Charter provides for an initiative process. *See* Spokane City Charter, art. IX, §§ 81-82 & art. XIV, § 125. Chapter 02.02 of the Spokane Municipal Code ("SMC") governs how Spokane residents may exercise their charter-granted right of initiative.²

B. Submission of the Initiative.

In April 2012, Envision Spokane submitted its initiative under the former "direct filing" process established by the SMC, seeking to amend the City Charter. CP 39-41. As required by the former SMC 02.02.080,

¹ Relevant parts of the Spokane City Charter are attached as <u>Appendix B</u>.

² As explained below in Section II.B, the City amended several relevant sections of the SMC between the time the initiative was submitted and this action arose. The City attaches as <u>Appendix C</u> relevant portions of the SMC that governed the procedural aspects of the initiative, and as <u>Appendix D</u> relevant portions of the SMC currently in effect.

the City Council held a hearing and a first reading on April 22, 2013. *Id.*At that point, the City Council had the option of (1) granting the petition and passing the initiative into law; (2) accepting the petition but declining to pass it and requesting that the signatures be validated; (3) proposing an alternative measure; or (4) determining whether the petition was legally invalid. Appendix C at § 02.02.080. The City Council chose the second option. On May 2, the Spokane County Auditor verified that the initiative proponents collected a sufficient amount of valid signatures. CP 108.

On May 20, 2013, as required by the former SMC, the Council held another hearing and the initiative was given a second and final reading. *Id.* The SMC requires that upon a final reading "(B) Unless a motion is made and passed to grant the petition and pass the measure as requested in the initiative petition, the city council adopts a resolution to place the measure on the ballot at the next available election." <u>Appendix</u> <u>C</u> at § 02.02.100(B). The City Council declined to adopt the initiative and passed the required resolution; thus, requesting that the Auditor schedule a special election in November 2013. CP 108-09.

The Council also considered a nonbinding resolution requesting that Spokane's Mayor pursue a legal challenge regarding the validity of the initiative, which was rejected in a 4-3 vote. 103 Official Gazette, City

of Spokane, Washington, No. 22, May 29, 2013, at 591.³ The resolution was advisory because the decision to file a preelection lawsuit rested with the Mayor under the SMC in place at that time. On June 12, 2013, the Spokane City Clerk forwarded the resolution to the Auditor, requesting that the initiative be placed on the November 5, 2013 ballot. CP 104-109.

Shortly thereafter, several businesses, individuals, and Spokane County filed a lawsuit challenging the *subject matter* of the initiative, seeking a declaration that the initiative was invalid as outside the scope of the local initiative power. CP 1-66. Spokane was named as a defendant. *See id.* Below, the City took no position on whether the initiative was within the scope of the local initiative power. The City did, however, take the position that, *if* the initiative was declared invalid, it should not appear on the ballot. In the City's view, placing an invalid initiative on the ballot (1) wastes taxpayer dollars, (2) harms the City's initiative process, and (3) causes voter confusion. CP 251-55.

III ARGUMENT

A. The Justiciability Concerns Relating to Statewide Initiatives
Do Not Apply With Equal Force to Local Initiatives.

The Opinion's equation of the City's initiative process with the statewide initiative process conflicts with decisions from this Court and

³ The relevant portions of the *Official Gazette* are attached as <u>Appendix E</u>.

Division II. See, e.g., City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!, 170 Wn.2d 1, 239 P.3d 589 (2010); City of Longview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 301 P.3d 45 (2013), rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1020 (2013). Accordingly, review is warranted. See RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

In fashioning a heightened standing requirement beyond the "arguably within the zone of interests" test long-endorsed by this Court, the Court of Appeals relied exclusively on two cases involving the statewide initiative process. Opinion at 7-10 (discussing *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 119 P.3d 318 (2005) & *Futurewise v. Reed*, 161 Wn.2d 407, 166 P.3d 708 (2007)). Neither case, however, fits the situation presented in this case.

Coppernoll dealt with a challenge to a statewide initiative where the challenger claimed that the initiative was unconstitutional, which is considered a substantive challenge. 155 Wn.2d at 294, 300-01. In laying out the framework for its justiciability analysis, this Court noted that substantive challenges to a statewide initiative are not generally justiciable "because of the constitutional preeminence of the right of initiative." *Id.* at 297. Substantive review of an initiative preelection also raises concerns about issuing advisory opinions, ripeness, and interference with the legislative process. *See id.* at 298. *Futurewise* involved a similar constitutional challenge. 161 Wn.2d at 411-12. None of the concerns

animating the Court's justiciability rulings in either case justifies the Court of Appeals' application of those rationales to this case.

First, the City's initiative process is permitted by State statute and the City Charter, it does not derive from the Washington State Constitution. Our Water-Our Choice!, 170 Wn.2d at 8 ("Amendment 7 does not apply to municipal governments, which under our constitution are not fully sovereign."). As such, the underlying "constitutional preeminence of the right to initiative" that concerned the Coppernoll Court simply does not apply. While article II, section 1(a) (Amendment 7) of the Washington Constitution "reserve[s]" the power of direct statewide legislation to the people, the power of direct legislation at the local level is one that first class cities—pursuant article XI, section 10, and RCW 35.22.200—"may provide" to the people. See also Philip A. Trautman, Initiative and Referendum in Washington: A Survey, 49 Wash. L. Rev. 55, 76 (1973) ("[T]he state constitution contains nothing relating specifically to initiatives or referendums at the local level of government.").4 In other words, the local initiative has not been reserved to the people vis-à-vis the State Constitution; rather, it only exists when a local government chooses to provide for such a process. Accord Our Water-Our Choice!, 170

⁴ In this regard, the Court of Appeals' characterization of a "statutorily protected right," which presumably refers to local initiatives, was a mischaracterization. Opinion at 6.

Wn.2d at 8. Despite this clear line of authority, the Court of Appeals based its standing and justiciability analysis on all the concerns animating this Court's jurisprudence with respect to preelection challenges to statewide initiatives.

Second, unlike the challengers in Coppernoll and Futurewise, Petitioners did not make a substantive challenge to the initiative; rather they made a subject matter challenge. Petitioners argued, and the trial court agreed, that the varied subjects of the initiative were outside the scope of the local initiative power for various reasons. See Petitioners' Appendix at B-1-15. This Court in *Coppernoll* recognized that "subject matter" challenges do not raise the same concerns the Court of Appeals relied upon in its standing and justiciability analysis in part because such "challenges usually address the more limited powers of initiatives under city or county charters[.]" 155 Wn.2d at 299 (emphasis added). Indeed, this Court specifically noted: "Subject matter challenges do not raise concerns regarding justiciability because postelection events will not further sharpen the issue (i.e., the subject of the proposed measure is either proper for direct legislation or it is not)." Id. (emphasis added); see also id. at 301; Philadelphia II v. Gregoire, 128 Wn.2d 707, 718, 911 P.2d 389 (1996) (explaining "sensible balance" created by allowing preelection subject matter review while prohibiting preelection substantive review).

In Our Water-Our Choice!, which post-dates both Coppernoll and Futurewise, this Court rejected the notion that local initiative process is on par with the statewide initiative process in considering whether to entertain a preelection challenge, noting "courts will review local initiatives and referendums to determine, notably, whether 'the proposed law is beyond the scope of the initiative power." 170 Wn.2d at 7 (quoting Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. City of Seattle, 94 Wn.2d 740, 746, 620 P.2d 82 (1980) (citing Leonard v. City of Bothell, 87 Wn.2d 847, 852-53, 557 P.2d 1306 (1976)). At issue in Our Water-Our Choice! was whether a local initiative seeking to stop the fluoridation of Port Angeles' drinking water was within the scope of the local initiative process. The proponents of the initiative argued that under Coppernoll the Court's review of the local initiative was limited. 170 Wn.2d at 13. The Court rejected this argument because "Coppernoll concerned a largely substantive preelection challenge to a statewide initiative," thus acknowledging that for purposes of preelection review, local initiatives are subject to a more searching review than statewide initiatives. *Id.*

More recently, Division II rejected the notion that *Coppernoll's* concerns applied with equal force to preelection challenges to local initiatives. The court stated its reasoning as follows:

But Wallin's reliance on *Coppernoll* is unpersuasive: The initiative power here does not derive from our state constitution; rather it has been authorized by statute. Thus, the constitutional preeminence of the right of initiative discussed in *Coppernoll* is not a concern in the present case, and the local powers of initiative do not receive the same vigilant protection as the constitutional powers addressed in *Coppernoll*.

Wallin, 174 Wn. App. at 790 (emphasis added; internal citations & quotations omitted); see also City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!, 145 Wn. App. 869, 879-80, 188 P.3d 533 (2008) ("Where substantive review of a state-wide initiative is inappropriate, a similar review for a local initiative is warranted given the greater restrictions placed upon them."), aff'd in relevant part, 170 Wn.2d 1 (2010). Both Our Water-Our Choice! and Wallin demonstrate that the local initiative power does not stand on equal footing with the statewide initiative power in evaluating a preelection challenge to a local initiative. To the degree that the Court of Appeals' decision rests its standing and justiciability rulings on Coppernoll and its progeny, such reliance conflicts directly with these cases because it fails to recognize that courts will more closely scrutinize preelection challenges to local initiatives.

As noted, Petitioners made a subject matter challenge to the initiative. Petitioners argued that the varied subjects contained in the initiative were outside the scope of the local initiative power either

because they were administrative (as opposed to legislative) in nature, or because they conflicted with a superior law. These are precisely the types of challenges that this Court has routinely allowed private parties to make. See, e.g., Seattle Building, 94 Wn.2d at 747-49.

By grafting this Court's jurisprudence regarding statewide initiatives, which recognizes the constitutional solicitude courts apply when assessing a preelection challenge to a statewide initiative, onto similar challenges regarding local initiatives, the Court of Appeals created any overly rigid view of standing and justiciability in preelection challenges to local initiatives. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

B. Amending the City Charter is of Paramount Importance to Spokane and its Citizens.

The Court of Appeals, without analysis, concluded that amending Spokane's Charter was simply not important enough to satisfy the public importance exception to standing. Opinion at 16 ("While there certainly may be local initiatives that present questions of public importance prior to adoption by the voters, this is not one of those cases.") (footnotes omitted). This conclusion should be reviewed for four reasons.

First, nothing in this Court's precedents creates the type of geographical limitation applied by the Court of Appeals. Focusing on geography, as opposed to impact, views the issue through the wrong lens.

Rather than focus on the geographic reach of a particular initiative, the focus should be on the initiative's importance to the community that will be impacted by it. Such a result is consistent with treatment of other local initiatives by other Divisions.

For example, in *Eyman v. McGehee*, Division I determined that the proper functioning of a *local* initiative process was sufficient to overcome any mootness concerns given that the question raised "issues of substantial and continuing public interest." 173 Wn. App. 684, 688-89, 294 P.3d 847 (2013); see also City of Flagstaff v. Magnum, 793 P.2d 548, 553 (Ariz. 1990) ("Local elections and the rules governing them are of considerable public interest[.]"). Likewise, in American Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of Bellingham, Division I noted that a local initiative involved "significant and continuing matters of public importance that merit judicial resolution." 163 Wn. App. 427, 433, 260 P.3d 245 (2011); see also

⁵ This Court's public interest standing jurisprudence is similar to its mootness jurisprudence. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). If the Court of Appeals applied the "substantial public importance" exception to mootness as outlined by this Court in *Philadelphia II*, it would have had to conclude this case presented a justiciable controversy because (1) this case involves an "issue" of a public nature; (2) opining on whether the initiative was permissibly within the scope of the local initiative power would have provided much needed "guidance to [Spokane's] public officers;" and, (3) given this initiative has been on the ballot at least two times, if it is rejected again, it would likely be submitted for inclusion on the ballot in the future. 128 Wn.2d at 712; see also Mukilteo Citizens for Simple Gov't v. City of Mukilteo, 174 Wn.2d 41, 52 n.6, 272 P.3d 227 (2012).

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